1961

Utah State Tax Commission v. Ralph Child Construction Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACT

On or about August, 1958, Mr. Laron Kunz, an auditor of the Utah State Tax Commission, made an audit of the books of the Ralph Child Construction Company (Tr. 47). Mr. Child testified that it was his understanding that the audit was being made of the books and records of Southeast Service, but that the auditor, contrary to permission, explored his office files and made a report which is the basis of this lawsuit (Tr. 37). In any event, as a result of this audit the Utah State Tax Commission found \$3,608.00 to be due and payable for sales and use taxes and filed a

warrant for delinquent sales and use taxes against Mr. Child's property. This warrant was dated February 16, 1959. Mr. Child, on February 18, 1959, filed a petition with the Utah State Tax Commission to review the assessment. On or about April 6, 1959, a hearing was had and evidence taken pertaining to the alleged deficiencies, which hearing was continued to March 22, 1960, for the further taking of testimony. The principal items of dispute arose out of a job the taxpayer had for the Emery County Union Telephone Association, Inc., under a contract dated May 23, 1952.

This job involved the complete construction of a telephone system in Emery County under the direction of the R.E.A. The contract price, lump sum was \$107,632.21 (See Taxpayer's Ex. 2) (Tr. 14). There were additions made to the contract and it was later increased in amount.

In connection with this job the taxpayer (contractor) purchased telephone poles from Southam & Sons, Spanish Fork, Utah, and telephone equipment manufactured by Kellogg Switchboard and Supply Company of Chicago. Sales by Kellogg were solicited by Kellogg in Utah through their sales representative.

The auditor found that during the year 1952 Mr. Child purchased from Southam & Sons \$25,231.03 worth of telephone poles and that these telephone poles were purchased for "resale." As evidence of this, the Tax Commission furnished one invoice from Southam & Sons marked "for resale", which is State's Exhibit No. 1 (See Tr. 59-60). The taxpayer supplied the Tax Commission with purchase orders for all of these poles and for the placing of the same

in the holes, which are shown as Taxpayer's Exhibit 11, and which generally contain the following notations:

"To: Southam & Sons
Address: Spanish Fork, Utah
Shipped To: Ralph Child
Address: Emery County, Utah

All poles to be gained, drilled and to have all inspection fees and taxes paid thereon. Shipped by seller's choice, f.o.b. job, if by truck, freight prepaid, terms same as general contract with R.E.A.",

or in the alternative, the purchase orders contained this language:

"taxes paid by seller."

In spite of the seller's purchase orders, the Tax Commission found on the basis of the one invoice from Southam & Sons that Mr. Child purchased these poles for "resale." There was no testimony on this subject other than that of Mr. Child. This one invoice is the Commission's only evidence.

The Tax Commission through this audit found that Mr. Child had purchased \$49,945.33 worth of telephone equipment from Kellogg Switchboard and Supply Company, but that Kellogg Switchboard and Supply Company was not a "resident" of the State of Utah and that, therefore, the purchaser had to collect and pay the sales tax. This they found in spite of their own finding (Finding of Fact 8b) that the equipment was sold to the taxpayer, f.o.b., Price, Utah, and the evidence was that the transaction was made and completed by the seller's agent, one H. E. Mundy, as a result of solicitation of business from the taxpayer in Utah. The

evidence shows that the transaction was made in the Mission Motel in Price, Utah, at the behest of H. E. Mundy, agent for Kellogg Switchboard and Supply Company (See Tr. 89).

The other items of dispute were items purchased out of state by the taxpayer for use within this state. The Commission found (Finding of Fact 8c) that these items amounted to \$188,177.02.

Mr. Child's contentions are set forth in his Schedules which are set forth in the Appendix to this Brief.

Schedule A sets forth the material purchased for use out of the State and which were used out of the State. This schedule has been amended to correct errors made in his original filing.

Schedule B is a summary of material purchased for ultimate consumption and, therefore, exempt from sales tax.

Schedule C consists of material purchased out of State for use within the State, which the taxpayer concedes tax liability.

Schedule D is a summary of material purchased in Price, Utah, from the Kellogg Switchboard and Supply Company.

Many of the taxpayer's records are incomplete or unavailable. His schedules have been prepared from such information that remains available. His business practice requires the elimination of records more than six years old and, therefore, he is at a distinct disadvantage requiring to defend this type of a proceeding at this date. The taxpayer has done six or seven million dollars in business since the date of the complained of transaction (Tr. 101).

STATEMENT OF POINTS**POINT 1**

THE UTAH STATE TAX COMMISSION AUDITORS ERRED IN ASSESSING SALES TAX, INTEREST AND PENALTIES ON THE PURCHASE OF TELEPHONE POLES FROM LEE SOUTHAM & SONS. (Schedule B, Appendix)

POINT 2

THE UTAH STATE TAX COMMISSION AUDITORS ERRED IN ASSESSING USE TAX, IINTEREST, AND PENALTIES ON THE PURCHASE OF TELEPHONE SUPPLIES AND EQUIPMENT FROM THE KELLOGG SWITCHBOARD AND SUPPLY COMPANY (Schedule D, Appendix)

POINT 3

THE UTAH STATE TAX COMMISSION AUDITORS ERRED IN ASSESSING SALES OR USE TAX ON PROPERTY PURCHASED OUT OF STATE FOR USE OUT OF STATE, SAID ITEMS BEING EXEMPT. (Schedule A, Appendix)

POINT 4

THE UTAH STATE TAX COMMISSION AUDITORS ERRED IN ASSESSING SALES OR USE TAX ON PROPERTY PURCHASED OUT OF STATE, INTENDED FOR USE IN THE STATE, NOT USED IN THE STATE, BUT LATER SOLD OUT OF STATE IN ISOLATED AND OC-CASIONAL SALES, SAID SALES BEING EXEMPT. (Schedule C, Appendix)

POINT 5

THE UTAH STATE TAX COMMISSION ERRED IN ASSESSING PENALTIES AND INTEREST IN ANY EVENT FOR THERE IS NO PRIMARY OBLIGATION ON THE PART OF THE APPELLANT TO PAY THE ALLEGED USE TAX AND NO SHOWING OF WILLFULNESS IN NOT PAYING, OR KNOWLEDGE ON PART OF APPELLANT THAT TAX WAS DUE.

ARGUMENT

POINT 1

THE UTAH STATE TAX COMMISSION AUDITORS ERRED IN ASSESSING SALES TAX, INTEREST AND PENALTIES ON THE PURCHASE OF TELEPHONE POLES FROM LEE SOUTHAM & SONS. (Schedule B, Appendix)

In order to understand appellant's position it is necessary to understand the definitions set forth in Utah Code Annotated 59-15-2. The definitions applicable are as follows:

“(e). The term “retailer” means a person doing a regularly organized retail business in tangible personal property, known to the public as such and selling to the user or consumer and not for resale, and includes commission merchants and all persons regularly engaged in the business of selling to users or consumers within the state of Utah; * * * *. The term “retail sales” means every sale within the state of Utah by a retailer or wholesaler to a user or consumer, except such sales as are defined as wholesale sales or otherwise exempted by the terms of this act; but the term

"retail sale" is not intended to include isolated nor occasional sales by persons not regularly engaged in business * * * *."

"(c). The term "wholesaler" means a person doing a regularly organized wholesale or jobbing business and known to the trade as such and selling to retail merchants, jobbers, dealers or other wholesalers, for the purpose of resale."

It is obvious from the above definitions that Mr. Child is neither a wholesaler or a retailer. It would appear, therefore, that his status in the transaction concerning the telephone poles must be that of an ultimate consumer. If that is true, then the tax should have been collected by the seller from the sale of these poles to the ultimate consumer. The board will recall that the evidence is undisputed that these poles went into construction, under a unit contract for installation, of a telephone system for the Emery County Farmers Union Telephone Association, Inc. They did not purchase the poles individually and there is no evidence offered by the state that they did. Under the circumstances the appellant fits within the category of a contractor as defined in the Utah Concrete Products Corporation case. In that case the court concluded that contractors are consumers within the meaning of our Act because they are the last persons in the chain to deal with such products before incorporation into a separate entity and before such products lose their identity as such. See *Utah Concrete Products Corporation v. State Tax Commission*, 101 Utah 513, 125 P.2d 408. The court there concluded specifically that sales of products made by manufacturer of building materials to contractor for use upon a private construction contract are taxable.

Now that we have concluded that the sale is one involving a sales tax and one in which the appellant is the ultimate consumer, it is appropriate that we determine whose responsibility it is to collect the tax. This matter is covered conclusively by Utah Code Annotated 59-15-5, the substance of which as it applies to this case is as follows:

“Any person receiving any payment or consideration upon a sale of property or service subject to the tax under the provisions of this act, or to whom such payment or consideration is payable hereinafter called the vendor) shall be responsible for the collection of the amount of the tax imposed on said sale. **The vendor shall collect the tax from the vendee**, but in no case shall he collect as tax an amount (without regard to fractional parts of one cent) in excess of the tax computed at the rates prescribed in this act, provided,
* * * *”

You will note by a complete reading of this statute that there is repeated reference to the “vendor”. In no instance does this section make the responsibility for collection of the tax and payment of the tax assessable to the purchaser or ultimate consumer. Nor does this transaction sit within the accepted category of a sale to a retailer for resale, for the state has offered absolutely no evidence to the effect that the ultimate consumer represented to the retailer that the personal property purchased was for resale. Without a showing of good and substantial evidence of this fact this one exception to the provision above cited cannot be used by the state as an excuse for assessing a sales tax against the appellant in this instance.

It would appear conclusively that the tax assessed in

this instance is erroneous and should, without doubt, be eliminated.

POINT 2

THE UTAH STATE TAX COMMISSION AUDITORS ERRED IN ASSESSING USE TAX, INTEREST, AND PENALTIES ON THE PURCHASE OF TELEPHONE SUPPLIES AND EQUIPMENT FROM THE KELLOGG SWITCHBOARD AND SUPPLY COMPANY (Schedule D, Appendix)

A general rational set forth in answer to Point 1 is applicable to the question in Point 2. It is the contention of the appellant that the sale made to the appellant by Kellogg Switchboard & Supply Company was a domestic sale made within the state of Utah and subject to sales tax. There is absolutely no evidence to the effect that the sale of this merchandise took place anywhere but within the state of Utah and the only testimony introduced by any person at this hearing was that introduced by the appellant to the effect that the sale was transacted in the Mission Motel at Price, Utah, for the purchase of all electronic supplies required by the plans and specifications furnished to the appellant for the construction of the telephone system for the Emery County Farmers Union Telephone Association, Inc. This being undisputed it would seem that there is no evidence upon which the Tax Commission could, under any circumstance, conclude that this was a purchase made outside of the state of Utah.

The terms of this purchase were for the sale in bulk of the items necessary to complete this contract and it was initiated, entered into and consummated in the State of

Utah. The record is devoid of any evidence that this is not a domestic sale. Under the circumstances the law applicable would seem to be the law applicable under Point 1 and this, therefore, being a sales tax, it would seem to be incumbent upon the state of Utah to assess the tax to the retailer and collect it from him. These matters have been the subject of many disputes but four cases which are in point and which substantiate the position of the appellant are as follows:

1. Whitmore Oxygen Company vs. Utah State Tax Commission, 196 P.2d 976:

This was an original proceeding by the Whitmore Oxygen Company against the Utah State Tax Commission. The question involved was whether the sale was subject to sales tax in Indiana or whether subject to use tax in Utah. The fact is that Whitmore Oxygen Company had entered into a contract with Linde Air Products Company, an Ohio corporation whose plant was located in Speedway, Indiana, whereby the plaintiff agreed to buy, and the Linde Company agreed to sell, 1,600 acetylene cylinders for the sum of \$34,000.00 f.o.b. factory, Speedway, Indiana. The contract was a title retaining contract and the lender retained title until such time as all of the installments were paid. It is the contention of the plaintiff that the sale was consummated in Utah and is, therefore, subject to sales tax and that the collection of this tax is barred by the statute of limitations, inasmuch as the plaintiff had filed regularly its annual income tax returns and had paid tax accordingly. The State Tax Commission claimed that the sale was made in Indiana, that no Utah tax return had been filed, and that the products were used in Utah and subject to use tax.

HELD:

The question of whether the sale was consummated was decided primarily on the f.o.b. provision. The court said that the f.o.b. provision made the contract complete in Indiana. The language of the court is as follows:

"The necessary implication of an f.o.b. contract is that the buyer shall bear all expense and bear all risk of loss after the goods are delivered free on board, and there is a presumption that the property in the goods passes when the goods have been so delivered, and that the place where the goods are to be delivered f.o.b. shall be the place of delivery to the buyer. See *Williston on Sales*, 2d Ed., Section 280(b). Under this view, when the cylinders were delivered free on board at Speedway, Indiana, the property in the goods passed and the sale was complete. * * * We conclude that for tax purposes the sale of cylinders was consummated in Indiana."

2. Another case which is persuasive is that of *Department of Revenue v. Jennison-Wright Corporation*, 66 N.E. 2d 395:

FACTS:

This is a complicated fact situation inasmuch as it involves three separate cases, however, all of the cases reach the same conclusion based upon primarily the same substantive facts. In general, the problem was this: That an Ohio corporation which qualified to do business in the State of Illinois sold railroad ties to an Illinois corporation. The ties were produced by the Ohio company's plant in Alabama and were inspected and improved and accepted

by the railroad company in Alabama. In Alabama the ties had been cut and seasoned and accepted by the railroad company, but the Ohio company had dipped them in creosote in Illinois. One of the cases was distinguished to this extent, that the ties which were sold were completely finished, including creosoting and were stocked in the company's warehouse in Missouri. All of the ties contracted for were sold f.o.b. East St. Louis, Illinois.

Was this a transaction subject to use tax or was the contract subject to sales tax and if so, who was responsible for the tax.

HELD:

The court concluded that it was a sale consummated and concluded in the State of Illinois and that it was subject to sales tax in the State of Illinois. The appellant's contention that while it held the ties in Illinois, it did so only as a bailee, was disposed of on the basis of where the delivery took place. The court said:

"The facts in this case are in conflict with any theory that the railroad company purchased the timbers from the producer. Appellants made the contract with the producer whereby the latter was to load the timbers on cars at point of origin. They were sold f.o.b. cars at point of origin consigned to appellants, and they in turn paid the producer the contract price. The general rule is that the delivery of personal property by the seller to a common carrier to be conveyed to the purchaser is a delivery to the purchaser and that the title to the property vests in the purchaser immediately upon its delivery to the carrier.

The fact that the railroad inspected the timbers at

point of origin and later transported them to this state without charge to appellant, would not, in view of all the circumstances, show that the parties intended that the title to the property should pass from the producer to the railroad company. The construction of a contract is to ascertain the intention of the parties, and there is no more convincing evidence of what the parties intended than to see what they did in carrying out its provisions. The title to the timbers passed from the producer to appellants and remained there until appellants completed the treatment process and delivered them f.o.b. cars, East St. Louis, Illinois. The transaction was a sale and not a bailment."

3. In addition to the above citation, the following case is of interest for it touches on the subject matter in issue here:

American Bridge Company v. Forrest Smith, 157 A. L.R. 798, 352 Mo. 616, 179 SW(2d) 12:

FACTS:

This was an action for declaratory judgment to determine the taxability of certain sales under provisions of the Missouri Sales Tax Law. The plaintiff was a corporation organized under the laws of the state of New Jersey with its principal place of business at Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. It was engaged in fabricating structural steel at various places in the state of Missouri and it sold the products to customers in and outside the state of Missouri. The suit was for declaratory judgment testing the constitutionality of the Sales Tax Law as an interference with commerce. The Court, in discussing the problem, stated this:

HELD:

"The transfer of the ownership of, or title to, the property are presumed to have taken place where the possession of the products was delivered to the vendees' there is no evidence that the plaintiff and the purchasers had a contrary intention. And in these instances, where the title was presumptively transferred to the purchasers in a foreign state (delivery f.o.b. cars at plaintiff's plants in other states" it would seem beyond question that such sales may not be taxed (basically) under the provisions of our Sales Tax Act, inasmuch as the sales were not sales at retail "in this state,"."

It would seem, therefore, that the reverse would be true and perhaps this case should be authority for the contention of plaintiff in the instant case.

4. The most recent case covering the subject is handed down by the U. S. Supreme Court entitled *Scripto, Inc. vs. Carson*. The case is as yet unreported as of this date but can be found in CCH publication "State Tax Review".

FACTS:

Scripto was doing business in Florida by commission merchant only and did not own, lease, or maintain any office or other business property in Florida nor did it have any regular employee or agent there. Orders for its products were solicited by advertising specialty brokers. Florida has a sales tax law similar to ours which states in effect that the tax on sales is collectible from "dealers" and is to be added to the purchase price. The question was whether, in light of the appellants operation, Florida could collect the tax.

HELD:

The court in this case said that Scripto had to collect and pay the tax even though its agent worked for several principals.

It is our position that there is absolutely no evidence introduced by the State that this was a sale made outside of the State of Utah for use within the State of Utah. If that is the circumstance the state has not carried their burden and we, of course, have introduced evidence to the contrary showing that it was a domestic sale within the state of Utah, for which the retailer incurs the obligation. We call the Court's attention to the invoices (Taxpayer's Exh. 5 and 6) which are marked f.o.b. Price, Utah, as evidence in harmony with the three cases cited above.

POINT 3

THE UTAH STATE TAX COMMISSION AUDITORS ERRED IN ASSESSING SALES OR USE TAX ON PROPERTY PURCHASED OUT OF STATE FOR USE OUT OF STATE, SAID ITEMS BEING EXEMPT. (Schedule A, Appendix)

In respect to the items shown on Schedule A of Exhibit 1, we have testified that these items were purchased for use out of the state. Clearly they are not taxable for there has been no showing whatsoever that these items were stored in the state of Utah, or used in the state of Utah, or sold in the state of Utah. The only thing that has been done in respect to the items shown on Schedule A is that the State Tax Commission has concluded that the fact that they were purchased outside the state of Utah means

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