1961

# Utah State Tax Commission v. Ralph Child Construction Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE TAX COMMISSION CAN LEVY AND COLLECT A SALES TAX, TOGETHER WITH PENALTY AND INTEREST, DIRECTLY FROM THE CONSUMER, RALPH CHILD CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, ON ITS PURCHASES OF TELEPHONE POLES FROM LEE SOUTHAM AND SONS CO.

Section 59-15-5, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, provides in part:

“Every person receiving any payment or consideration upon the sale of property or service subject to the tax under the provisions of this act, or to whom such payment or consideration is payable (hereinafter called a vendor) shall be responsible for the collection of the amount of the tax imposed on said sale; provided, however, that where any sale of tangible personal property is made by a wholesaler to a retailer, upon the representation by the said retailer that the said personal property is purchased by the said retailer for resale, and the said personal property thereafter is not resold, the wholesaler shall not be responsible for the collection or payment of the tax imposed on the said sales, but the said retailer shall be solely liable for the said tax.”

Tax Commission Exhibit No. 1 was introduced into evidence without any objection of the part of the taxpayer (pages 55-56, Trial Record, April 6, 1959). It

consists of an invoice from Southam and Sons, Lodge Pole Pine Dealers at Spanish Fork, Utah, detailing a sale, to Ralph Child, F.O.B. Emery County, Utah, of telephone poles. This invoice was obtained from the taxpayer's office, given to an auditor of the State Tax Commission by one of the employees of Mr. Child and came from a group of invoices. It is typical of all of such invoices on Schedule 1 of Exhibit 2. Significantly, it is marked "for resale." Although the auditor could not testify that all of the invoices on Schedule 1 of Exhibit 2 were similarly marked, it is submitted that this Exhibit is important for two reasons—the first of which is, that it is indicative of the fact that Southam and Sons paid no sales tax on the transaction and did not collect any such sales tax; and, two, that it demonstrates the fact that a representation was made by Mr. Child to Southam and Sons that the personal property consisting of telephone poles was being purchased by Mr. Child, as a retailer, for resale. It is clear from the testimony that the poles in question were not resold but were consumed by the taxpayer under a lump sum contract for installation of telephone poles and equipment. Under the terms of 59-15-5, as amended, the wholesaler would not then be responsible for the collection or payment of the tax imposed on the sale, but the retailer, or the petitioner in this case, should be solely liable for the tax.

It is contended on the part of the taxpayer that the State has offered no evidence to the effect that the ultimate consumer, Mr. Child, represented to the retailer that the personal property purchased was for resale. It is submitted, however, that the above mentioned Ex-

hibit does constitute evidence that a representation was made to Southam and Sons and that Mr. Southam treated the whole series of transactions with Mr. Child as exempt sales as being sales to a retailer for resale.

On page 3 of petitioner's brief, it is argued that the taxpayer supplied the Tax Commission with purchase orders for all of the telephone poles herein and for the placing of the same in the holes. These were incorporated into taxpayer's Exhibit No. 11. (T.R. Attached Envelope) On page 3 it is contended that these are "the *seller's purchase orders.*" (Emphasis supplied) However, careful perusal of the exhibit under consideration will indicate that the purchase orders in question were not the "seller's" but were in fact issued by petitioner, Ralph Child, as a purchaser. The language upon said purchase orders does not specifically refer to sales or use taxes, and there is no indication of any kind that the parties entered into an agreement wherein Southam and Sons would assume sales taxes which normally would be collected from petitioner if in fact he were a consumer. Therefore, there is at least a conflict of evidence in the record, and the Tax Commission having an opportunity to evaluate the credibility of the witnesses thereupon made a finding that the above representations were made.

The Commission does not rest its position on the strength of Exhibit No. 1 alone. The aforementioned Section 59-15-5, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, further provides "the vendor shall collect the tax from the vendee..." This section has been construed to mean that the vendor is liable for sales tax, regardless of whether or not said vendor collects the said tax from the vendee.

See *E. C. Olsen v. State Tax Commission*, 109 Ut. 563, 168 P. 2d 324 (1946); *State Tax Commission v. Spanish Fork*, 99 Ut. 177, 100 P. 2d 375 (1941). But it has also been stated that the vendor's status, under the act, is that of a collector rather than that of a taxpayer. *Bird and Jex Co. v. Anderson Motor Co.*, 92 Ut. 493, 59 P. 2d 510 (1937). It should be noted that the sales tax in this state is a tax on the consumer. *Western Leather and Finding Co. v. State Tax Commission*, 87 Ut. 227, 48 P. 2d 526 (1935); *E. C. Olsen v. State Tax Commission*, 109 Ut. 563, 168 P. 2d 324 (1946).

In the case of *E. C. Olsen Co. v. State Tax Commission*, 109 Ut. 563, the plaintiff corporation engaged in the manufacture of packing boxes and other items related to the sale, packaging and processing of agricultural products. It paid no tax and collected no tax from sales of these products. The plaintiff corporation in that case sought relief from sales taxation on several grounds, among which was that all questioned sales were exempt as purchases, entering into and becoming part of manufactured goods. The court there made a significant statement:

“By no reasonable construction can we agree with plaintiff's contention that the legislature intended to exempt all purchases of material needed to prepare agricultural products for market. Rather, the processor of agricultural products is on the same footing as the processor of any other type product. The test is: Are the articles involved consumed by the processor as the last user? If they are so consumed, the tax must be paid thereon by the processor. On the other hand, if the articles enter into and become

an ingredient or component part of what he manufactures, and are thus passed on to the final users, or the articles are containers, labels, or shipping cases of what he manufactures, the processor does not pay the tax."

In other words, the court stated if the processor is an ultimate consumer, then the tax must be paid by that processor as ultimate consumer. The defendant taxpayer is, by its own admission in this case, an ultimate consumer.

It having been established that the consumer owes the tax, the important question herein to be decided is not who is responsible for the collection of the tax, but rather, in a case where no tax is paid or collected on a taxable transaction, can the State Tax Commission elect to hold either of the parties liable for the tax. Section 59-15-5, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, provides that it can, in certain circumstances. That is:

"Where any sale of tangible personal property is made by a wholesaler to a retailer, upon the representation by the said retailer that the said personal property is purchased by the said retailer for resale, and the said personal property thereafter is not resold, the wholesaler shall not be responsible for the collection of tax imposed on the said sale, but the said retailer shall be solely liable for the said tax."

Therefore, the Tax Commission is not bound to collect tax only from the vendor but, under certain circumstances, at least, may proceed directly against the vendee to collect the tax. It is the position of the Commission that, as there are two parties legally liable for the

tax, in all cases where the tax has not been paid it has the power to proceed against whichever party can be compelled to pay.

It has further been decided that the Commission can proceed to prosecute an action in its own name for collection of sales tax. See *State Tax Commission v. City of Logan*, 88 Ut. 406, 54 P. 2d 1197 (1938), where it was stated on pg. 418:

“Article XIII, Section 11, of our State Constitution granted to the State Tax Commission supervision of the tax laws of the state. Revised Statutes of Utah 1933, 80-5-46 [today 59-5-46] contains an enumeration of the general powers and duties of the Commission. Power is there conferred upon the Commission ‘to sue and be sued in its own name,’ and generally to supervise the levy and collection of taxes. In the light of the fact that broad powers are conferred upon the Commission to levy and collect taxes, it would seem idle for the legislature to vest authority in the Commission to sue its own name unless it intended thereby that the Commission might sue for the collection of taxes. Apparently, one of the chief purposes of the legislature in granting to the Commission authority to sue was to enable it to enforce the payment of taxes. The city’s contentions that the Commission is without authority to prosecute this action in its own name must fail.”

And the court in *State Tax Commission v. Linford*, 116 Utah 57, 207 P. 2d 1121 (1949), interpreted the powers of the Commission in broad terms when it said:

“Furthermore, the fact that the Commission is granted the power to sue and be sued in its



own name, 80-5-46(1), Utah Code Annotated, 1943 [59-5-46, 1953] and the further power to prescribe rules and regulations not in conflict with the Constitution and laws of this state for its own government and 'the transaction of its business,' Subsections 2 and 23, suggests that the Commission should be able to do everything reasonable, appropriate, and businesslike in the collection of taxes which it has the duty to collect."

It would follow from the above that the Commission could assess and collect the tax directly against the consumer because of the following reasons: (1) the tax is the consumer's debt; (2) the Tax Commission has the power to sue in its own name to enforce obligations owed to the state; (3) the Tax Commission has the duty to enforce such obligations; and (4) it is only reasonable to proceed against the consumer where this is practical and the amount is sufficient to justify such procedure.

A similar conclusion was reached in an opinion by Grover A. Giles, Attorney General, directed to J. Lambert Gibson, Chairman of the Commission, dated January 29, 1942. A question had arisen as to the method of procedure in collecting back taxes where the statute imposed a duty upon the vendor to collect the tax. The opinion is important because of its direct bearing on the present issue. It was therein stated:

"The fact that it is thus made a debt due from the vendor does not necessarily preclude the possibility of collecting the tax from the ultimate consumer. That is merely an effective means of compelling the vendor to perform his duty as the tax collector, and it is our opinion that the State itself could go against either the vendor

or the purchaser in the transaction. We think too that if the State compelled the vendor to pay the amount of these taxes which he should have collected at the time of the sale, the vendor would have the right to, in turn, go against the purchaser who should have paid the tax at the time of the sale. It was as much the duty of the purchaser as the vendor to know that the tax was due upon the transaction, and therefore, as far as the State is concerned, we think the State would have the right to go against either one. Nevertheless, we do not think that because the vendor has imposed upon him the burden of collecting the tax and failed to do so that the State would be deprived of its right to the tax where the vendor may be insolvent if the purchaser is still available. The vendor is merely a tax collector and the Tax Commission could use other means to collect the tax from the purchaser. The fact that both the vendor and the purchaser are involved in the transaction would not make the claim of the State for the tax a doubtful claim. It may present some problems in administering the law and collecting the tax, but it would not make the State's claim doubtful. The State has a valid claim for the tax and can assert that claim against the vendor by virtue of the Statutory duty imposed upon the vendor and can assert the claim against the purchaser by virtue of the fact that the tax is a consumer's tax, which by the very intention of the law is passed on to and must be paid by the ultimate consumer purchaser."

It is submitted that in the present case it is reasonable, appropriate and businesslike for the Commission to proceed to collect the tax against the party who is legally liable for it when said tax has not been collected or paid by the party to whom the responsibility for

collecting the same has been given. It is submitted that the Commission would be derelict in its duty if it failed to proceed against either or both until all possibilities for collecting the tax have been exhausted, and that the Commission may properly elect to proceed against the party which it feels would be most likely to meet the obligation of payment.

## POINT II

THE TAX COMMISSION DID NOT ERR IN ASSESSING USE TAX, INTEREST AND PENALTIES AGAINST PETITIONER ON THE PURCHASE OF TELEPHONE SUPPLIES AND EQUIPMENT FROM THE KELLOGG SWITCHBOARD AND SUPPLY CO.

The same general criteria applicable to the decision in Point I above are also applicable to the question herein. In addition thereto, petitioner contends that the Tax Commission is bound to collect the use tax from the seller and not from the petitioner. As authority for this proposition it cites, among other decisions, the 1960 U. S. Supreme Court Case of *Scripto, Inc. v. Carson*, .....U. S. ...., 80 S. Ct. 619, 4 L. Ed. 2d 660. In that case there was held to be sufficient minimum contact with the taxing forum to subject independent contractors soliciting business within the state of Florida on behalf of an interstate seller, to a use tax collectible from dealers as of the moment of purchase. However, the authority in that case was permissive not mandatory regarding powers granted a state agency.

This, and similar cases, are to be distinguished from the situation presently before this court. Here there is no question as to whether or not the sale took place in

interstate commerce, nor is there an independent broker or middleman, nor is there a question of whether or not the state may tax the seller. The terms of the agreement herein simply state that the materials in question were to be supplied and delivered to the petitioner F.O.B. at Price, Utah. Petitioner contends that, as such, the sale took place within the state of Utah, and, therefore, the use tax is not properly assessed against Ralph Child.

The Utah use tax is imposed upon the storage, use or other consumption of tangible personal property within this state. Every person so storing, using or consuming such property is liable for the tax. Section 59-16-5, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, provides that the retailer selling such property is liable for the collection of the tax. However, the retailer is not taxed in his own right nor is the tax a transaction tax as in the case of a sale. Rather, it is a tax on the storer, user or consumer of tangible personal property. Thus, it is a consumer's tax, collectible by the retailer as a convenience to the state, but failure of such a retailer to collect does not absolve the consumer of liability to the state. Indeed, the general criteria of Point I are applicable to such a situation and the state can proceed to collect the tax from either the retailer or the consumer.

In this regard, the Utah case of *Ford J. Twaits v. Utah State Tax Commission*, 106 Ut. 343, 148 P. 2d 343 (1944), is especially pertinent.

In that case the Tax Commission attempted to impose a use tax upon contractors who purchased materials for their own account for construction on a gov-

ernment project. The materials were purchased from out of state vendors and no tax was paid on the purchases. It was contended that the obligation to pay the tax was on the "retailer" and that the Tax Commission could not proceed against the particular defendants. The court in that case said:

"The Use Tax Act of 1937 is an excise tax imposed upon the privilege of storing or using property within this state, and liability for the tax is imposed upon the person so storing or using the property.... Such person is the one ultimately responsible for the tax. He may discharge this liability though by payment of the tax to the retailer from whom he purchases the goods.... It is provided that the retailer, as that term is used in the Act, is responsible for the collection of the tax, and when collected, it is a debt due from the retailer to the state."

The court further said:

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